CP3-17-15 DESY 17-076 KCL-PH-TH/2017-27

The Higgs Vacuum Uplifted: Revisiting the Electroweak Phase Transition with a Second Higgs Doublet

G. C. Dorsch,^{*a*} S. J. Huber,^{*b*} K. Mimasu,^{*b*,*c*} J. M. No^{*b*,*d*}

^aDESY, Notkestraße 85, D-22607 Hamburg, Germany

^bDepartment of Physics and Astronomy, University of Sussex, Brighton, BN1 9QH, UK

^cCenter for Cosmology, Particle Physics and Phenomenology - CP3, Université Catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-neuve, Belgium

^dDepartment of Physics, King's College London, Strand, WC2R 2LS London, UK E-mail: glauber.carvalho.dorsch@desy.de, S.Huber@sussex.ac.uk,

ken.mimasu@uclouvain.be, jose_miguel.no@kcl.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: The existence of a second Higgs doublet in Nature could lead to a cosmological first order electroweak phase transition and explain the origin of the matterantimatter asymmetry in the Universe. We explore the parameter space of such a two-Higgs-doublet-model and show that a first order electroweak phase transition strongly correlates with a significant uplifting of the Higgs vacuum w.r.t. its Standard Model value. We then obtain the spectrum and properties of the new scalars H_0 , A_0 and H^{\pm} that signal such a phase transition, showing that the decay $A_0 \rightarrow H_0Z$ at the LHC and a sizable deviation in the Higgs self-coupling λ_{hhh} from its SM value are sensitive indicators of a strongly first order electroweak phase transition in the 2HDM.

Contents

1	Introduction	2
2	Reviewing Two Higgs Doublet Scenarios	3
3	The Electroweak Phase Transition with Two Higgs Doublets	6
4	Vacuum Energy vs EW Phase Transition Strength:	
	Numerical scan	9
5	Analytic results	15
	5.1 The Alignment Limit $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$	15
	5.2 Away from the Alignment Limit: Degenerate 2HDM Spectrum	19
	5.3 An Inert Second Doublet	21
6	Trilinear Higgs self-coupling	22
7	Conclusions	25
\mathbf{A}	Physical dictionaries of the \mathbb{Z}_2 and Higgs bases for two Higgs doublets	26
	A.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 basis	26
	A.2 Higgs basis	27
	A.3 Inert Doublet Model	27
В	On-Shell Renormalization of the 2HDM: \mathcal{F}_0 in the Higgs basis	2 8

1 Introduction

In a cold, nearly empty Universe, spontaneous breaking of the electroweak (EW) symmetry takes place because the Higgs potential energy is minimized when the Higgs field(s) acquire non-vanishing vacuum expectation values (VEVs). But in the early Universe, when the scalar fields are surrounded by a thermal plasma of particles, the net free-energy of the entire system has further contributions stemming from interactions with this thermal bath, which yield a restoration of the EW symmetry for temperatures $T \gtrsim 100$ GeV. Tracing the thermal history of the Higgs field from the high temperature regime down to the T = 0 vacuum of today reveals the properties of the Electroweak Phase Transition (EWPT), the process of EW symmetry breaking in the early Universe.

The detailed dynamics of the EWPT is a crucial ingredient for a number of cosmological observables. One example is the baryon asymmetry of the Universe (BAU), which could be dynamically generated during a first order EWPT as long as the nucleation and expansion of vacuum bubbles provide a strong enough departure from thermal equilibrium as required by the Sakharov conditions [1]. For the minimal Higgs sector of the SM, a first order transition would only be achieved for a Higgs mass m_h lower than the mass of the W boson, $m_h \leq m_W$ [2], and thus does not occur in the SM [3]. The BAU therefore constitutes concrete evidence of physics beyond the SM which can be connected to the EWPT and the precise nature of the Higgs sector. In addition, a first order EWPT would generate a stochastic background of gravitational waves, potentially observable with the upcoming space-based gravitational wave interferometer LISA (see [4] for a review). Since the properties of the EWPT are highly sensitive to the presence of new degrees of freedom at the EW scale coupling to the Higgs field, its study provides a tantalising research topic at the interface of particle physics and cosmology, shedding light on the ultimate structure of the sector responsible for EW symmetry breaking in Nature. This is a key goal of the physics programme of the LHC and future colliders.

To fully determine the nature of the EWPT one typically has to inspect the shape and evolution of the Higgs thermal effective potential with temperature, which faces various theoretical issues (see e.g. [5-7]). Furthermore, determining the phase transition strength is usually a computationally expensive algorithm. On the other hand, it has been recently pointed out that, in theories where a modified scalar sector acts as the main source of a strong phase transition, the EWPT strength is closely correlated with the zero temperature vacuum energy difference of the theory [8, 9]. The amount by which the EW broken vacuum is "uplifted" with respect to the SM case constitutes a good indicator of the increase in the strength of the EWPT. In this work we will investigate this correlation in the context of two-Higgs-doublet models (2HDMs) (see [10] for a review). Despite the minimality of the model, the existence of additional scalars can induce a strongly first order phase transition [11–14], as well as introduce new sources of Charge-Parity (CP) violation to enable the successful generation of the BAU via EW baryogenesis in some regions of its parameter space [15–17]. Ultimately, lattice calculations will provide a detailed map of the 2HDM parameter region in which a strong first order EWPT occurs, but perturbative calculations can already point to the main features of such a map. We show that the correlation between the EWPT strength and the zero temperature vacuum energy uplifting is a powerful analytic tool to explore the interplay between experimental/theoretical constraints and the strength of the EWPT in 2HDM scenarios.

Our analysis indicates that this interplay results in a strong EWPT favouring a hierarchical 2HDM scalar spectrum, with a preference for a heavy charged and pseudoscalar as compared to the neutral scalars (which includes the 125 GeV Higgs boson). This leads to a "smoking-gun" signature at the LHC [14] (see also [18, 19]). We also show a significant deviation of the Higgs self-coupling from its SM value to be a collateral prediction of 2HDM scenarios with a strong EWPT [20, 21]. Accessing the Higgs self-coupling is a key goal of the LHC and future colliders (see e.g. [22–25] for recent analyses), as it provides a direct probe of the nature of EW symmetry breaking. In the High-Luminosity LHC the sensitivity of such measurement is expected to be $\sim 50 \%$ [26, 27]. We will show that this could be enough to probe some scenarios with a strong EWPT in 2HDMs.

In section 2 we provide a review of the 2HDM and establish our notation as well as the relevant theoretical constraints on the model parameters. Section 3 elaborates on the computation of the vacuum energy difference in the 2HDM. Section 4 presents the numerical scan of the 2HDM parameter space, establishing the correlation between the vacuum energy difference and the strength of the EWPT, well as highlighting a number of key features of 2HDMs that exhibit strongly first order EWPTs. We move to a more analytical treatment in section 5, using the vacuum energy difference as a proxy for the phase transition strength, delving deeper into the effects that establish the preferred regions of parameter space. Section 6 discusses the connection of the phase transition with the trilinear Higgs self-coupling before conclusions are drawn in section 7.

2 Reviewing Two Higgs Doublet Scenarios

Let us start with a brief review of the 2HDM, which also defines our notation in this work. We consider a 2HDM scalar potential with a softly broken \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry to inhibit tree-level flavour changing neutral currents (FCNC), and for simplicity we neglect effects from CP violation¹. The scalar potential then reads

$$V_{\text{tree}}(\Phi_1, \Phi_2) = \mu_1^2 |\Phi_1|^2 + \mu_2^2 |\Phi_2|^2 - \mu^2 \left[\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_2 + \text{h.c.} \right] + \frac{\lambda_1}{2} |\Phi_1|^4 + \frac{\lambda_2}{2} |\Phi_2|^4 + \lambda_3 |\Phi_1|^2 |\Phi_2|^2 + \lambda_4 \left| \Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_2 \right|^2 + \frac{\lambda_5}{2} \left[\left(\Phi_1^{\dagger} \Phi_2 \right)^2 + \text{h.c.} \right], \qquad (2.1)$$

where the two scalar $SU(2)_L$ doublets Φ_j (j = 1, 2) may be written as

$$\Phi_k = \begin{pmatrix} \phi_k^+ \\ \frac{v_k + \varphi_k + i\,\eta_k}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(2.2)

The physical scalar sector of a 2HDM is comprised of two CP-even neutral scalars, h and H_0 (with $m_{H_0} \ge m_h$), plus a neutral CP-odd scalar A_0 and a charged scalar H^{\pm} . In this work we identify h with the observed 125 GeV Higgs boson, but we stress that our main arguments can be easily extended to the flipped case where H_0 is the recently observed particle and h is a lighter and yet undetected scalar (experimental constraints on this scenario have been recently discussed in [29–31]).

Apart from m_h and v = 246 GeV, the scalar potential (2.1) may be parametrized in terms of $\tan \beta \equiv v_2/v_1$ (with $v_1^2 + v_2^2 = v^2$), the angle α parametrising the mixing between the CP-even states, the scalar masses m_{H_0} , m_{A_0} , $m_{H^{\pm}}$ and the mass scale M,

$$M^{2} \equiv \mu^{2} (t_{\beta} + t_{\beta}^{-1}).$$
(2.3)

The relation between the physical states h, H_0 , A_0 , H^{\pm} and the states φ_j , η_j , ϕ_j^{\pm} is given by

$$H^{\pm} = -s_{\beta} \phi_1^{\pm} + c_{\beta} \phi_2^{\pm}, \qquad A_0 = -s_{\beta} \eta_1 + c_{\beta} \eta_2,$$

$$h = -s_{\alpha} \varphi_1 + c_{\alpha} \varphi_2, \qquad H_0 = -c_{\alpha} \varphi_1 - s_{\alpha} \varphi_2,$$

with $s_{\beta}, c_{\beta}, s_{\alpha}, c_{\alpha} \equiv \sin \beta, \cos \beta, \sin \alpha, \cos \alpha$, respectively. Regarding the couplings of the two doublets $\Phi_{1,2}$ to fermions, the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry in (2.1), even when softly broken by μ^2 , may be used to forbid potentially dangerous tree-level FCNCs by requiring that each fermion type couple to one doublet only [32]. By convention, up-type quarks couple to Φ_2 . In Type I 2HDM all the other fermions also couple to Φ_2 , while for Type II down-type quarks and leptons couple to H_1 . There are two more possibilities (depending on the \mathbb{Z}_2 parity assignment for leptons with respect to down-type quarks),

 $^{^{1}}$ CP violation is important for the computation of the final baryon asymmetry, but its impact on the phase transition strength is typically negligible, as EDM constraints require the CP violating phase to be small [17, 28].

but we focus here on Types I and II. The parameters $t_{\beta} \equiv \tan \beta$ and $c_{\beta-\alpha} \equiv \cos (\beta - \alpha)$ control the strength of the couplings of h, H_0 , A_0 and H^{\pm} to gauge bosons and fermions. In particular, one can identify the so-called alignment limit [33] $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$, for which h couples to SM particles exactly like the SM Higgs. The parameters in the scalar potential can be related to the masses and mixings in the scalar sector as shown in Appendix A.

In order to obtain a viable 2HDM scenario, theoretical constraints from unitarity, perturbativity and stability/boundedness from below of the scalar potential (2.1) need to be satisfied. These will play an important role in the following discussion. Tree-level boundedness from below of the potential (2.1) requires

$$\lambda_1 > 0, \quad \lambda_2 > 0, \quad \lambda_3 > -\sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}, \quad \lambda_3 + \lambda_4 - |\lambda_5| > -\sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}.$$
 (2.4)

At the same time, tree-level unitarity² imposes bounds on the size of various combinations of the quartic couplings λ_i [35, 36]. Similar (although generically less stringent) bounds on λ_i may be obtained from perturbativity arguments. Finally, in order to guarantee absolute tree-level stability of the EW minimum (that is, the non-existence of a "panic vacuum" [37, 38]), the couplings must satisfy

$$\left[\left(\frac{m_{H^{\pm}}^2}{v^2} + \frac{\lambda_4}{2}\right) - \frac{|\lambda_5|^2}{4}\right] \left[\frac{m_{H^{\pm}}^2}{v^2} + \frac{\sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2} - \lambda_3}{2}\right] > 0, \qquad (2.5)$$

which can be rewritten as

$$\frac{M^2 m_{A_0}^2}{2v^4} \left\{ \frac{M^2}{v^2} + \frac{(m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2)}{v^2} \left[s_{\beta-\alpha}^2 - c_{\beta-\alpha}^2 - c_{\beta-\alpha} s_{\beta-\alpha} (t_\beta - t_\beta^{-1}) \right] + \sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2} \right\} > 0. \quad (2.6)$$

Note that, in alignment, the condition that no panic-vacua exist at tree-level is satisfied for $M^2 > 0$.

In the following, it will prove convenient to use the Higgs basis of the 2HDM [33], given by the rotation from the doublet fields in (2.2) via

$$H_{1} = c_{\beta} \Phi_{1} + s_{\beta} \Phi_{2},$$

$$H_{2} = -s_{\beta} \Phi_{1} + c_{\beta} \Phi_{2}.$$
(2.7)

The two doublets in the Higgs basis read

$$H_1 = \begin{pmatrix} G^+ \\ \frac{\nu + h_1 + i G_0}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix} , \qquad H_2 = \begin{pmatrix} H^+ \\ \frac{h_2 + i A_0}{\sqrt{2}} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.8)$$

²For a recent one-loop analysis, leading to slightly more stringent bounds, see [34].

such that the EW broken phase is characterized by $\langle h_1 \rangle = v$, $\langle h_2 \rangle = 0$, with h_1 , h_2 the CP even field directions of H_1 and H_2 . The 2HDM tree-level potential for H_i reads

$$V_{\text{tree}}(H_1, H_2) = \bar{\mu}_1^2 |H_1|^2 + \bar{\mu}_2^2 |H_2|^2 - \bar{\mu}^2 \left[H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{H.c.} \right] + \frac{\lambda_1}{2} |H_1|^4 + \frac{\bar{\lambda}_2}{2} |H_2|^4 + \bar{\lambda}_3 |H_1|^2 |H_2|^2 + \bar{\lambda}_4 \left| H_1^{\dagger} H_2 \right|^2 + \frac{\bar{\lambda}_5}{2} \left[\left(H_1^{\dagger} H_2 \right)^2 + \text{H.c.} \right] + \bar{\lambda}_6 \left[|H_1|^2 H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{H.c.} \right] + \bar{\lambda}_7 \left[|H_2|^2 H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{H.c.} \right], \quad (2.9)$$

with the modified mass parameters $\bar{\mu}_1^2$, $\bar{\mu}_2^2$, $\bar{\mu}^2$ and quartic couplings $\bar{\lambda}_{1-7}$ being functions of $m_{H^{\pm}}^2$, $m_{A_0}^2$, $m_{H_0}^2$, m_h^2 , M^2 , $c_{\beta-\alpha}$ and t_{β} (see Appendix A.2). We also note that in the Higgs basis M precisely corresponds to the mass scale of the second doublet prior to EW symmetry breaking.

3 The Electroweak Phase Transition with Two Higgs Doublets

The evolution of the Higgs vacuum in the early Universe, in thermal equilibrium, can be described by means of the finite temperature effective potential $V_{\text{eff}}^T(\phi, T)$ for the Higgs (and possibly other scalar fields subject to evolution in the early Universe)

$$V_{\text{eff}}^{T}(\phi, T) = V_{\text{tree}}(\phi) + V_{1}(\phi) + V_{T}(\phi, T), \qquad (3.1)$$

with ϕ representing the set of relevant scalar fields including the Higgs, V_1 being the T = 0 radiative Coleman-Weinberg piece of the effective potential and V_T the thermal contribution. The free-energy density difference \mathcal{F}_T between the $SU(2)_{\rm L} \times U(1)_{\rm Y}$ symmetric phase $\langle \phi \rangle = 0$ and the broken phase $\langle \phi \rangle = v_T \neq 0$ at temperature T is then

$$\mathcal{F}_T = V_{\text{eff}}^T(v_T, T) - V_{\text{eff}}^T(0, T)$$

$$\equiv \mathcal{F}_0 + V_0(v_T) - V_0(v_0) + V_T(v_T, T) - V_T(0, T) = \mathcal{F}_0 + \Delta V_T.$$
(3.2)

The first contribution, $\mathcal{F}_0 < 0$, corresponds to the vacuum energy difference at T = 0, while the second contribution $\Delta V_T \geq 0$ is monotonically increasing with T, vanishing as T vanishes. The critical temperature, T_c , below which the EWPT can proceed in the early Universe is then defined by $\mathcal{F}_{T_c} = 0$.

A first order EWPT is characterized by the presence of a potential barrier between the symmetric and broken phases as \mathcal{F}_T turns negative during the evolution of the Universe. Such a first order transition could be responsible for the generation of the matter-antimatter asymmetry of the Universe through EW baryogenesis, should the strength of the transition be sufficiently large (see [39–41] for reviews on the EWPT and baryogenesis). The details of the tunneling process [42–44] between symmetric and broken phases in a first order EWPT depend on the functional form of ΔV_T in (3.2). Nevertheless, it has been recently shown that in a wide class of extensions of the SM potentially leading to a first order EWPT, the strength of the transition, which is the relevant quantity for EW baryogenesis, is dominantly controlled by the value of $\mathcal{F}_0 \ w.r.t.$ its corresponding value for the SM, \mathcal{F}_0^{SM} [8, 9]. In this work we show that this is indeed the case for the 2HDM. It is then possible to perform a systematic study of the 2HDM parameter space in which a strongly first order EWPT is favoured by analyzing the behaviour of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 \equiv \mathcal{F}_0 - \mathcal{F}_0^{SM}$. Moreover, we stress that $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ is renormalization scale independent and safe from potential gauge dependence issues [5, 6], being manifestly gauge invariant. These highlight the advantage of using $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ to explore the regions of 2HDM parameter space where a strongly first order EWPT is possible, as well as its phenomenological implications.

Let us now discuss the vacuum energy at 1-loop in 2HDM scenarios. For the renormalization of the 2HDM 1-loop effective potential we use an on-shell scheme, imposing (among other conditions) that the value of the 1-loop vevs for the two doublets and the 1-loop physical masses m_h , m_{H_0} , m_{A_0} and $m_{H^{\pm}}$ are equal to their tree-level values. The renormalized 1-loop effective potential in the Higgs basis reads

$$V_{\text{tree}}(H_1, H_2) + V_{\text{CT}}(H_1, H_2) + V_1,$$
 (3.3)

with the counterterm potential being

$$V_{\rm CT}(H_1, H_2) = -\delta \bar{\mu}_1^2 |H_1|^2 + \delta \bar{\mu}_2^2 |H_2|^2 - \delta \bar{\mu}^2 \left[H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{H.c.} \right] + \frac{\delta \lambda_1}{2} |H_1|^4 + \frac{\delta \bar{\lambda}_2}{2} |H_2|^4 + \delta \bar{\lambda}_3 |H_1|^2 |H_2|^2 + \delta \bar{\lambda}_4 \left| H_1^{\dagger} H_2 \right|^2 + \frac{\delta \bar{\lambda}_5}{2} \left[\left(H_1^{\dagger} H_2 \right)^2 + \text{H.c.} \right] + \delta \bar{\lambda}_6 \left[|H_1|^2 H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{H.c.} \right] + \delta \bar{\lambda}_7 \left[|H_2|^2 H_1^{\dagger} H_2 + \text{H.c.} \right]. \quad (3.4)$$

An immediate advantage of working in the Higgs basis is that, in order to obtain the vacuum energy \mathcal{F}_0 , we only need to compute the on-shell renormalization conditions explicitly³ for $\delta \bar{\mu}_1^2$ and $\delta \bar{\lambda}_1$

$$-\delta\bar{\mu}_{1}^{2} + \frac{\delta\bar{\lambda}_{1}v^{2}}{2} + \frac{1}{v}\left.\frac{\partial V_{1}}{\partial h_{1}}\right|_{v} = 0 \quad , \quad -\delta\bar{\mu}_{1}^{2} + \frac{3\delta\bar{\lambda}_{1}v^{2}}{2} + \frac{\partial^{2}V_{1}}{\partial h_{1}^{2}}\Big|_{v} = 0.$$
(3.5)

³The Higgs basis condition $\langle h_2 \rangle = 0$ is maintained at 1-loop by the choice of $\delta \bar{\mu}^2$ and $\delta \bar{\lambda}_6$.

The 1-loop piece of the scalar potential V_1 in (3.3) is given in Landau gauge (see *e.g.* [15]) by

$$V_1 = \sum_{\alpha} n_{\alpha} \frac{m_{\alpha}^4(h_1, h_2)}{64\pi^2} \left(\log \frac{|m_{\alpha}^2(h_1, h_2)|}{Q^2} - C_{\alpha} \right) \,. \tag{3.6}$$

The index α sums over W, Z gauge bosons, top quark and 2HDM scalars including Goldstone bosons⁴, with $n_{\alpha} > 0$ ($n_{\alpha} < 0$) for bosons (fermions). The various C_{α} are constants which depend on the renormalization scheme, and may be disregarded as they drop out in the following analysis. The vacuum energy \mathcal{F}_0 reads

$$\mathcal{F}_{0} = -\frac{m_{h}^{2}v^{2}}{8} - \frac{v^{2}}{8}c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2}\left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}\right) + \Delta V_{1} - \frac{\delta\bar{\mu}_{1}^{2}v^{2}}{2} + \frac{\delta\bar{\lambda}_{1}v^{4}}{8}, \qquad (3.7)$$

where ΔV_1 is to be understood as the difference of the Coleman-Weinberg terms (3.6) evaluated at the electroweak minimum and at the origin. As we are ultimately interested in $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$, we also need to compute $\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$ using the same on-shell renormalization procedure (demanding the 1-loop Higgs vev and mass to match their tree level values), obtaining

$$\mathcal{F}_{0}^{\rm SM} = -\frac{m_{h}^{2}v^{2}}{8} + \frac{1}{64\pi^{2}} \left(3m_{W}^{4} + \frac{3}{2}m_{Z}^{4} - 6m_{t}^{4} \right) + \frac{m_{h}^{4}}{64\pi^{2}} \left(3 + \log 2 \right) \,. \tag{3.8}$$

The first term in (3.7) and (3.8) corresponds to the tree-level vacuum energy difference for the SM. We also note that the contributions to ΔV_1 from the gauge bosons W and Z and the top quark are identical in the SM and 2HDM, and so drop out from $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$. Combining (3.7) and (3.8), we obtain

$$\Delta \mathcal{F}_{0} = -\frac{v^{2}}{8}c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2}\left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}\right) - \frac{m_{h}^{4}}{64\pi^{2}}\left(3 + \log 2\right) - \sum_{k}\frac{m_{0_{k}}^{4}}{64\pi^{2}}\left(\log\frac{|m_{0_{k}}^{2}|}{Q^{2}} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \quad (3.9)$$
$$+ \frac{1}{64\pi^{2}}\sum_{k}\frac{1}{4}\left\{\left(vI_{k}\right)^{2} - 2\,m_{k}^{4} + \left[\left(vI_{k} - 2\,m_{k}^{2}\right)^{2} + m_{k}^{2}\left(v^{2}J_{k} - vI_{k}\right)\right]\log\frac{m_{k}^{2}}{Q^{2}}\right\},$$

with $m_{0_k}^2$ the (possibly negative) squared scalar masses for $k = H^{\pm}$, A_0 , H_0 , h evaluated at the origin. Further details on the derivation of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ including explicit expressions for I_k and J_k are given in Appendix B.

It is possible to show that the Q^2 dependence in (3.9) cancels out, so that $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ is renormalization scale independent. We also note that the first term in (3.9), which

⁴We note the squared masses of the scalars do *not* vanish at the origin in general. As these masses may be negative for certain values of h_1 , h_2 , the absolute value in the argument of the logarithm ensures only the real part of the potential is evaluated.

corresponds to the tree-level contribution to $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$, is negative definite and vanishes in the alignment limit $c_{\beta-\alpha} \to 0$. In this limit, (3.9) simplifies considerably and reads

$$\Delta \mathcal{F}_{0} = \frac{1}{64 \pi^{2}} \left[\left(m_{h}^{2} - 2M^{2} \right)^{2} \left(\frac{3}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \log \left[\frac{4 m_{A_{0}} m_{H_{0}} m_{H^{\pm}}^{2}}{\left(m_{h}^{2} - 2M^{2} \right)^{2}} \right] \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left(m_{A_{0}}^{4} + m_{H_{0}}^{4} + 2 m_{H^{\pm}}^{4} \right) + \left(m_{h}^{2} - 2M^{2} \right) \left(m_{A_{0}}^{2} + m_{H_{0}}^{2} + 2 m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} \right) \right]. \quad (3.10)$$

4 Vacuum Energy vs EW Phase Transition Strength: Numerical scan

In order to show explicitly the correlation between the vacuum energy difference $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ and the nature of the EW phase transition in 2HDMs, we perform a Monte-Carlo scan over an extensive region of the 2HDM parameter space. We vary mass parameters from 100 - 1000 GeV (but with $m_{H_0} > m_h$), and limit ourselves to the low tan $\beta < 10$ region, since very large tan β is uninteresting for practical applications such as the baryon asymmetry computation. Each scanned point is tested for:

- Tree-level unitarity and perturbativity (by requiring the tree-level quartic selfcouplings among the *physical* scalars to be smaller than 2π)⁵.
- Stability of the electroweak vacuum at tree-level (c.f. eqs. (2.4) and (2.6)) and at 1-loop level by directly searching for lower secondary minima and/or unboundedness of the effective potential up to a cutoff $\Lambda = 5 \text{ TeV}^6$.
- Limits from EW precision observables [45–48].
- Flavour constraints, of which the most relevant in the low tan β region are B⁰−B⁰ mixing [49, 50] and B
 → X_sγ decays [51–55].
- Bounds from direct scalar searches using HIGGSBOUNDS [56], and agreement with measured properties of the $m_h = 125$ GeV Higgs boson using HIGGSSIGNALS [57].

⁵In the literature, perturbativity is typically imposed as $\lambda_{1-5} < 4\pi$. However, the scalar vertex entering a loop expansion involves the self-coupling of *physical* states, rather than the flavour eigenstates, hence the limits must be imposed on the physical quartic couplings. Furthermore, we chose a more stringent upper bound of 2π for the tree-level couplings, as this tends to ensure well-behaved running up to or beyond $\Lambda \gtrsim 2$ TeV. For the impact of requiring the *running couplings* to remain small all the way up to a certain cutoff scale, see discussion in section 5.

⁶This is generally more stringent than evaluating the stability conditions in eq. (2.4) with the 1-loop running couplings, as the latter method only takes the logarithmic contributions into account. Note also that one would find even more accurate exclusion regions by scanning the RG improved 1-loop effective potential with the 2-loop running couplings.

A point passing all these tests is considered *physical*. For each of these, the strength of the phase transition is computed by increasing the temperature, starting at T = 0, and following the electroweak minimum (whose norm at temperature T is denoted v_T), until we reach the critical temperature T_c for which $\mathcal{F}_{T_c} = 0$. The phase transition is considered strong if



$$\xi \equiv \frac{v_{T_c}}{T_c} \ge 1. \tag{4.1}$$

Figure 1. Results of a numerical scan of the 2HDM parameter space (see text for details) showing the correlation between the $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ and (top) the critical temperature (bottom) the strength of the EWPT for Type I (left) and Type II (right). Filled contours indicate the density of physical points. Also shown are contours of $\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1}$, the posterior probability of having a strong first order EWPT.

Clearly, the larger $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ is, the smaller the temperature corrections required in order to reach $\mathcal{F}_{T_c} = 0$. Since v_T also grows as T decreases, the overall result is that the strength of the phase transition should be directly related to $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$. This is illustrated in Fig. 1. Here, the filled green contours indicate the number of physical points in a given region of the parameter space. In any such region we also define

$$\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1} \equiv \frac{\# \text{ points with } \xi > 1}{\# \text{ physical points}},$$
(4.2)

whose contours are shown in the empty curves indicating the percentage of points in the encircled region for which the phase transition is strong (e.g. in Fig. 1 (top), 95% of points inside the black solid curve have $\xi \geq 1$). Note that the latter curves, being the ratio of density distributions in a certain region, are less sensitive to the priors of the scan than the actual distribution of points alone, and therefore offer a more meaningful physical picture in that they can be interpreted as a posterior probability density for requiring a strongly first-order EWPT given the existing constraints on the model.

For convenience, we normalize the vacuum energy by the SM value at 1-loop⁷ $\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}} \approx -1.25 \times 10^8 \text{ GeV}^4$. It is clear from Fig. 1 (top) that as $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$ decreases both T_c and the likelihood of having a strong phase transition increase. Notice, furthermore, that the phase transition is guaranteed to be strong if $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}} \lesssim -0.34$ for the sample generated in our scan. This can be used as an efficient criterion to judge the nature of the phase transition, as it does not require the evaluation of the thermal potential (although it is not used in what follows). We however emphasize that the details of the thermal evolution of the system, and oftentimes one cannot precisely judge the nature of the phase transition by the vacuum energy alone. E.g. for $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 = 0$ in Type I, the EWPT can be weak or strong, as shown in Fig. 1 (bottom, left).

Yet, a direct correlation certainly exists between these quantities, from which one can understand and predict the favoured corners of the parameter space for a strong EWPT. Eq. (3.9) shows that the vacuum energy difference receives a negative treelevel contribution away from alignment, which increases with m_{H_0} . We thus expect a strong EWPT to favour the alignment limit, and the more so the heavier H_0 is. These expectations are confirmed by the data, as shown in Fig. 2. In both Type I and II scenarios the probability contours increasingly favour alignment for a strong EWPT as m_{H_0} grows. For Type I, even though the distribution of physical points already narrows around alignment for $m_{H_0} \gtrsim 550$ GeV, the narrowing of the $\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1}$ bands is significantly more drastic and does not merely follow that of the physical distribution. It is also worth noticing that, while for Type I the low-mass region is the mostly populated, for Type II the lower bound $m_{H^{\pm}} > 480$ GeV from flavour constraints tends to shift the masses of the additional scalars towards rather large values, which is why the physical points are mostly concentrated in the region of $m_{H_0} \sim 500$ GeV. For Type II we

⁷As $\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$ is negative, larger values of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ will correspond to more negative values of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$.



Figure 2. Distribution of physical points, as in Figure 1, and $\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1}$ contours in the $(m_{H_0}, c_{\beta-\alpha})$ plane. As H_0 gets heavier, a strong first order EWPT increasingly favours alignment. In Type II the wrong-sign scenario, albeit less populated, can also lead to a strong EWPT.



Figure 3. Distribution of physical points, as in Figure 1, and $\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1}$ contours in the $(\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{SM}, M)$ plane.

also note the physical region for $c_{\beta-\alpha} \gtrsim 0.4$, corresponding to the 2HDM wrong-sign scenario [58]. Both in Type I and II scenarios one sees that away from the alignment limit there is a tension between a strong EWPT and a heavy H_0 .

The dependence of the vacuum uplifting with the overall mass scale M is determined mostly by stability, perturbativity and unitarity constraints. Indeed, close to the alignment limit the quartic couplings $\lambda_{1,2}$ read

$$v^2 \lambda_1 \approx m_h^2 + t_\beta^2 \Omega^2 , \quad v^2 \lambda_2 \approx m_h^2 + t_\beta^{-2} \Omega^2,$$

$$(4.3)$$

where the parameter

$$\Omega^2 \equiv m_{H_0}^2 - M^2 \tag{4.4}$$

has been introduced for its usefulness in the analysis of the stability and unitarity requirements. Recalling eq. (2.4), both couplings $\lambda_{1,2}$ must be positive and it follows that

$$m_h^2 > -\max(t_\beta^2, \ t_\beta^{-2}) \Omega^2,$$
 (4.5)

so that as M^2 grows larger, $m_{H_0}^2$ has to follow it closely. In addition eq. (2.4) shows that

$$v^{2} \lambda_{3} \approx 2m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} - 2m_{H_{0}}^{2} + \Omega^{2} + m_{h}^{2},$$

$$v^{2} \lambda_{4} \approx m_{A_{0}}^{2} - m_{H_{0}}^{2} + \Omega^{2} - 2m_{H^{\pm}}^{2}$$
(4.6)

cannot grow too negative either, from which it follows that $m_{H^{\pm}}^2$ and $m_{A_0}^2$ cannot be much smaller than a large M^2 . In summary, for $M^2 \gg m_h^2$, stability enforces $m_{H_0}^2, m_{A_0}^2, m_{H^{\pm}}^2 \sim M^2$, for which the decoupling limit is approached and $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 \to 0$, as can be verified by setting $m_{H_0} = m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0} \approx M \gg m_h$ in eq. (3.9). Therefore, a significant uplifting of the vacuum energy can only be achieved for $M \sim v$, which is confirmed by Fig. 3. We note that again in Type II the distribution of physical points is peaked around larger values due to the lower bound on $m_{H^{\pm}}$ from the $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ constraint. However, in both types a moderate uplifting of the vacuum energy is achieved only for $M \leq 500$ GeV.

A strongly first order EWPT generally relies on the existence of sizable couplings between the symmetry breaking scalar field (the Higgs) and the particles in the plasma, which means that one or more of the additional scalars must be significantly heavier than the overall mass scale M, as the mass splitting would be controlled by these large couplings. We have already established that a large m_{H_0} becomes disadvantageous for a strong EWPT away (even if only slightly) from alignment. Furthermore, for $t_{\beta} \neq 1$ a large Ω^2 quickly violates perturbativity bounds. On the other hand, EW precision observables constrain the charged scalar H^{\pm} to be close in mass to either m_{H_0} or m_{A_0} . This leaves A_0 as the only scalar whose mass is free to be large⁸, and Fig. 4 confirms that a rather heavy⁹ A_0 is indeed the most favoured scenario, with > 94% of strong phase transition points lying above the lower bound $m_{A_0} \gtrsim 300$ GeV.

 $^{^{8}}H^{\pm}$ may also be significantly heavier than M if paired to A_{0} , but not on its own.

⁹We note that a heavy pseudoscalar $(m_{A_0}^2 \gg M^2)$ does induce a negative quartic coupling $\lambda_5 = (M^2 - m_{A_0}^2)/v^2$. However, this does not pose a problem for stability, since only the absolute value of λ_5 enters eq. (2.4).



Figure 4. Distribution of physical points and $\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1}$ contours in the $(\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{SM}, m_{A_0})$ plane.

These results are put together in Fig. 5, illustrating how the likelihood of a strong EWPT varies with m_{H_0} and m_{A_0} . In both Type I and II 2HDM scenarios a strong transition favoures a large splitting $m_{A_0} > m_{H_0} + m_Z$, pointing to the $A_0 \rightarrow ZH_0$ decay as a *smoking gun signature* of a 2HDM with a strongly first order EWPT. The detection prospects of this channel, and its importance as complementary to searches into SM final states, have been discussed in [14, 18, 19, 65].



Figure 5. Distribution of physical points and $\mathcal{P}_{\xi>1}$ contours in the (m_{H_0}, m_{A_0}) plane. A strong first order EWPT is clearly favoured by a splitting $m_{A_0} > m_{H_0} + m_Z$.

5 Analytic results

We now turn to an analytic exploration of the 2HDM vacuum uplifting as computed from eq. (3.9). Given the large dimensionality of the 2HDM parameter space, we perform the study in various limits which allow us to explicitly investigate the relevant parameter dependences. In the following section we focus on the alignment limit, pair $m_{H^{\pm}}$ exactly with either m_{H_0} or m_{A_0} , and work out the dependence of the vacuum energy and phase transition strength with the splitting $\Delta m_{\rm AH} \equiv m_{A_0} - m_{H_0}$ and $\Omega \equiv \sqrt{|\Omega^2|} \times \text{sign}(\Omega^2)$ for different fixed values of m_{H_0} . Then, in section 5.2 we allow for deviations from the alignment limit, fixing a degenerate spectrum ($m_{H_0} = m_{A_0} = m_{H^{\pm}}$) for simplicity. Finally we devote section 5.3 to the special case of the Inert 2HDM where only one double takes a vev and the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is exact.

5.1 The Alignment Limit $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$

We start by considering the alignment limit $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$, where *h* behaves exactly as the SM Higgs boson. In this case, $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ is given by (3.10). Since measurements of EW precision observables (in particular the *T*-parameter) require an approximate degeneracy $m_{H^{\pm}} \sim m_{H_0}$ or $m_{H^{\pm}} \sim m_{A_0}$, we set for simplicity this pairing as exact, analysing both possibilities. With these parameters fixed, $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ is then solely dependent on m_{H_0} , m_{A_0} , and Ω^2 .

We first fix $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ and show in Fig. 6 the parameter space regions of constant $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$ in the $(\Omega, \Delta m_{\text{AH}})$ plane, respectively for $m_{H_0} = 200, 500 \text{ GeV}$ (Left to Right) and $t_{\beta} = 1.5, 3, 5$ (Top to Bottom). In each case we show the constraints from treelevel unitarity, boundedness from below of the scalar potential and non-existence of a panic vacuum. We note that as opposed to unitarity and stability, $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$ and the existence of a panic vacuum do not depend on t_{β} (this last one for $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$). To estimate the breakdown of perturbativity, we show the region for which any quartic coupling grows larger than 4π at a cutoff $\mu = 5$ TeV from 2-loop running [63], starting from $\mu_0 = \max(m_{H_0}, m_{H^{\pm}}, m_{A_0})$ to ensure that the heavy degrees of freedom will only contribute above their threshold. While this is not a hard limit on the model compared to the others presented, it provides an idea of the UV scale of new physics that would be required in such a picture. Finally, we also show the lines of a constant strength of the EWPT ξ in the $(\Omega, \Delta m_{\text{AH}})$ plane, obtained numerically. These smoothly track the lines of constant $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$, confirming the observations in section 4 regarding the tight correlation between the strength of the EWPT and $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ in 2HDM scenarios.

From Fig. 6 we see that a strongly first order EWPT is achieved by increasing $\Delta m_{\rm AH}$ in all cases. For $m_{H_0} \gg v$ ($m_{H_0} = 500$ GeV in Fig. 6) and $t_\beta \sim 1$ it is also possible to achieve such a strongly first order transition by increasing Ω (with $\Omega < m_{H_0}$) for



Figure 6. $\Omega \equiv \sqrt{|\Omega^2|} \times \operatorname{sign}(\Omega^2)$ vs $\Delta m_{AH} \equiv m_{A_0} - m_{H_0}$ assuming $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$, for $m_{H_0} = 200, 500 \text{ GeV}$ (Left to Right) and $t_{\beta} = 1.5, 3, 5$ (Top to Bottom). Red lines show constant values of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$. Blue lines show constant values of the strength of the EWPT ξ . The grey region is excluded by boundedness from below of the scalar potential, while the brown region is excluded by unitarity. In the hatched region, a panic vacuum develops.

 $\Delta m_{\rm AH} < 0$, but this possibility is forbidden by unitarity as t_{β} departs significantly from 1. We repeat the analysis, now for $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$, and show the results in Fig. 7. These are qualitatively similar to those from Fig. 6 for the $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ scenario. Together,



Figure 7. Ω vs $\Delta m_{\rm AH}$ assuming $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$, for $m_{H_0} = 200, 500$ GeV (Left to Right) and $t_{\beta} = 1.5, 3, 5$ (Top to Bottom). Labels as in Fig. 6.

these show that a strongly first order EWPT within the 2HDM generically favours $m_{A_0} - m_{H_0} \gtrsim 100$ GeV, leading to the landmark signature $A_0 \to H_0 Z$ at colliders.

Before continuing, let us note that in our analytical study of the 2HDM vacuum energy we haven't imposed several experimental constraints that would further restrict the allowed parameter space within the 2HDM, briefly outlined in section 4. The reason for not doing so is that these constraints depend significantly on the Type of 2HDM,

while our analysis of the EWPT and the bounds from stability, unitarity, perturbativity and existence of a panic vacuum do not. However, it is important to briefly discuss these experimental constraints so that the reader is well informed of their potential impact on the 2HDM parameter space: (i) LEP searches yield the limit $m_{H^{\pm}} > 72$ GeV (80 GeV) for 2HDM Type I (II) [60] as well as the bound $m_{H_0} + m_{A_0} \gtrsim 209$ GeV [61]. (ii) LHC measurements of Higgs signal strengths constrain the allowed value of $c_{\beta-\alpha}$ as a function of t_{β} (see e.g. [62–65]). These do not provide a constraint in the alignment limit $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$ (since the 125 GeV Higgs behaves as the SM one in this case), but do constrain significant deviations from the alignment limit, and thus will be relevant for the analysis of section 5.2. In addition, Higgs signal strength measurements constrain the size of the $h \to A_0 A_0$ partial width for $m_{A_0} < 62$ GeV, which in alignment translates into the strong constraint $\Omega^2 \simeq m_{H_0}^2 - m_{A_0}^2 - m_h^2/2$ on the allowed range of Ω in this region [66]. (iii) LHC searches for H_0 , A_0 and H^{\pm} constrain the masses of the new scalars as a function of $c_{\beta-\alpha}$ and t_{β} (and Ω in certain regions of parameter space). In the alignment limit, and for the parameters considered in Figs. 6 and 7, relevant limits come from $A_0 \to ZH_0$ $(H_0 \to ZA_0)$ 8 TeV CMS searches [67] in the region $\Delta m_{AH} > 0$ ($\Delta m_{AH} < 0$), as discussed in [65]. Searches for H^{\pm} are also relevant for $m_{H^{\pm}} < m_t$ (see e.g. [68]). (iv) Flavour constraints, particularly from $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ B-meson decays, yield strong limits on the $(m_{H^{\pm}}, t_{\beta})$ parameter space both for Type I [54] and Type II [54, 55] 2HDM (see also [69]).

In order to shed some more light on the impact of the quartic coupling values from the 2HDM potential (2.1) on the strength of the EWPT, we now analyze the interplay between $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ and the theoretical constraints using a different choice of independent parameters: $c_{\beta-\alpha}$, t_{β} , M^2 , λ_3 , λ_4 , λ_5 . Together with v = 246 GeV and $m_h = 125$ GeV, these completely determine the parameters in (2.1). We fix $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$, and note that $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ in this limit, given by (3.10), is symmetric under $m_{A_0} \leftrightarrow m_{H_0}$. Fixing $m_{H^{\pm}}$ to be close to either m_{A_0} or m_{H_0} breaks this symmetry. However, there is still a symmetry between the scenario $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ with $\Delta m_{AH} > 0$ and the scenario $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$ with $\Delta m_{AH} < 0$. Using the relations from Appendix A.1 we find that in the former scenario $\lambda_4 = \lambda_5$ while in the latter $\lambda_4 = m_h^2/v^2 - (2\lambda_3 + \lambda_5)$. In both cases $m_{A_0}^2 - m_{H_0}^2 = v^2(\lambda_3 + \lambda_4) - m_h^2$. Choosing M = 246 GeV as an illustrative example, we compare in Fig. 8 the vacuum energy difference $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ and theoretical constraints in the $(\lambda_3 + \lambda_4, \lambda_5)$ plane, for the $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ and $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$ scenarios. In each case, besides the lines of constant $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 / \mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}} = 0, -0.2, -0.4 \text{ and } -1 \ (\mathcal{F}_0 > 0), \text{ we show the contours of } m_{A_0} - m_{H_0} = m_Z$ (when the decay $A_0 \rightarrow ZH_0$ becomes kinematically accessible) and $m_{H_0} - m_{A_0} = m_Z$ (when the decay $H_0 \to ZA_0$ becomes kinematically accessible), as well as the tree-level stability and unitarity bounds for $t_{\beta} = 1.5, 3, 5$. Fig. 8 explicitly shows that for $t_{\beta} \sim 1$ sufficient vacuum uplifting for a strongly first order EWPT in the 2HDM is compatible



Figure 8. $\lambda_3 + \lambda_4$ vs λ_5 for M = 246 GeV and assuming respectively $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ (Left) and $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$ (Right). Red lines show constant values of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 / \mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$, with the green region corresponding to $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 / \mathcal{F}^{\text{SM}} < -1$ ($\mathcal{F}_0 > 0$). Blue lines show the contours $m_{A_0} - m_{H_0} > m_Z$ (solid) and $m_{H_0} - m_{A_0} > m_Z$ (dashed). The grey and orange regions are respectively excluded by boundedness from below of the scalar potential and by unitarity, for $t_\beta = 1.5$, 3, 5 (dark to light). The brown region is unphysical ($m_{H_0} < 0$ and/or $m_{A_0} < 0$).

with both $m_{A_0} - m_{H_0} > m_Z$ and $m_{H_0} - m_{A_0} > m_Z$ (and even $m_{H_0} = m_{A_0}$). This is the case for both the $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ (Fig. 8 Left) and $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$ (Fig. 8 Right) scenarios. However, as t_β increases, the region $m_{H_0} > m_{A_0}$ becomes progressively excluded by unitarity, and already for $t_\beta = 3$ a vacuum uplifting $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0 / \mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}} = -0.2$ demands $m_{A_0} - m_{H_0} > m_Z$, as can also be inferred from Figs. 6 and 7.

5.2 Away from the Alignment Limit: Degenerate 2HDM Spectrum

We now investigate the effect of departing from the alignment limit, setting for simplicity $m_{H_0} = m_{A_0} = m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{\phi}$. In this approximation the vacuum energy difference can be expressed in terms of $c_{\beta-\alpha}$, t_{β} , m_{ϕ}^2 and Ω^2 (see Appendix B for details). We show in Fig. 9 the behaviour of the vacuum energy difference in the $(\Omega, c_{\beta-\alpha})$ plane for $m_{\phi} = 200, 500 \text{ GeV}$ (Left to Right) and $t_{\beta} = 1.5, 3, 5$ (Top to Bottom). In all cases a sizable vacuum uplifting demands $\Omega \gtrsim v$ (the only exception corresponds to $m_{\phi} = 500$ GeV, $t_{\beta} = 5$ and $c_{\beta-\alpha} \gtrsim 0.4$, excluded by vacuum stability). As shown in Fig. 9 (Left), for light m_{ϕ} uplifting of the vacuum is in conflict with the panic vacuum constraint (and also excluded by unitarity for $t_{\beta} \gg 1$). In contrast, Fig. 9 (Right) shows that sufficient vacuum uplifting is possible for $m_{\phi} = 500$ GeV and $v \lesssim \Omega \lesssim m_{H_0}$, provided



Figure 9. $\Omega \equiv \sqrt{|\Omega^2|} \times \text{sign}(\Omega^2)$ vs $c_{\beta-\alpha}$ for $m_{\phi} = 200, 500 \text{ GeV}$ (Left to Right) and $t_{\beta} = 1.5, 3, 5$ (Top to Bottom). Red lines show constant values of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$. The grey region is excluded by boundedness from below of the scalar potential, while the orange region is excluded by unitarity. In the hatched region, a panic vacuum develops.

that $t_{\beta} \sim 1$. Again, as t_{β} increases the parameter space region where the 2HDM Higgs vacuum is uplifted compared to the SM one becomes excluded by unitarity.

5.3 An Inert Second Doublet

The inert doublet model [70–72] (IDM) is a special case of 2HDM scenario in which the second doublet is protected by a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and does not develop a vev. This \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry leads to the lightest state of the second doublet being stable, yielding a viable dark matter (DM) candidate if this corresponds to either A_0 or H_0 . This scenario has been widely studied in the literature (see e.g. [73, 74] for updated analyses, and references therein), including its impact on the EWPT [75–78].

The scalar potential for the IDM is given by (2.1) with $\mu = 0$, and due to the unbroken \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry the dictionaries from Appendix A.1 – A.2 do not apply in any particular limit, and instead the relations among parameters are given in A.3 (note however that some of the parameter relations are identical to those of the Higgs basis with $c_{\beta-\alpha} = 0$ and $M^2 = 0$). The relevant IDM parameters can be conveniently chosen to be m_{H_0} , m_{A_0} , $m_{H^{\pm}}$, $\lambda_{345} \equiv \lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \lambda_5$ and λ_2 . In the following we consider DM to be H_0 (both choices are physically equivalent in the IDM), which amounts to requiring $\Delta m_{AH} > 0$, and we also consider $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ as a simplifying assumption to satisfy EW precision constraints.

Using (3.5), (3.6) and the results from Appendix B we can easily obtain the vacuum energy difference $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0$ for the IDM, which reads

$$\Delta \mathcal{F}_{0} = \frac{1}{64\pi^{2}} \left[\left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{345}v^{2}}{2} \right)^{2} \log \left[\frac{m_{H_{0}}^{2} m_{A_{0}}^{6}}{\left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{345}v^{2}}{2} \right)^{4}} \right] + \frac{1}{2} \left(m_{A_{0}}^{4} - m_{H_{0}}^{4} \right) + 3 \left(\frac{\lambda_{345}v^{2}}{2} \right)^{2} + 4 \left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{A_{0}}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{345}v^{2}}{2} \right) \left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{345}v^{2}}{2} \right) + \left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{A_{0}}^{2} - \frac{\lambda_{345}v^{2}}{2} \right)^{2} \right], (5.1)$$

and we investigate its interplay with theoretical constraints: stability, unitarity and the requirement that the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry is preserved in the EW broken vacuum, which leads to the condition

$$\mu_1^2/\sqrt{\lambda_1} < \mu_2^2/\sqrt{\lambda_2} \,. \tag{5.2}$$

We also include in our analysis the constraint on the IDM parameter space from the latest LUX bounds on the spin-independent DM-nucleon scattering cross section [79], as well as the IDM parameter space region for which the H_0 relic abundance through thermal freeze-out Ω_{H_0} does not exceed the observed DM relic density $\Omega_{\rm DM} = 0.1199 \pm$ 0.0022 [80]. The H_0 relic abundance and the spin-independent H_0 -nucleon scattering cross section are both obtained with MICROMEGAS_4.3 [81], and we note that the nucleon scattering cross section has to be weighted by $\Omega_{H_0}/\Omega_{\rm DM}$ when comparing with the LUX limits (as these assume $\Omega_{H_0} = \Omega_{\rm DM}$).

In Fig. 10 we show the vacuum energy difference in the plane $(\lambda_{345}, \Delta m_{AH})$ for benchmark values $m_{H_0} = 70$ GeV (left) and $m_{H_0} = 150$ GeV (right), as well as the theoretical constraints for $\lambda_2 = 1, 0.1$. We also show the contours of constant $\Omega_{H_0}/\Omega_{\rm DM} = 1, 0.1, 0.02, 0.01$ and the bound from LUX. For $m_{H_0} = 70$ GeV the LUX bound combined with $\Omega_{H_0}/\Omega_{\rm DM} \leq 1$ exclude the entire parameter space except for the small island $\Delta m_{AH} \leq 10$ GeV and $-0.05 \leq \lambda_{345} \leq 0.05$. As shown in Fig. 10 significant vacuum uplifting requires $\Delta m_{AH} \gtrsim v$ and is thus not possible in this case¹⁰. In contrast for $m_{H_0} = 150$ GeV, sizable uplifting and thus a strongly first order EWPT is possible, requiring $\Delta m_{AH} \gtrsim 200$ GeV. We emphasize that while previous works have already identified a large mass splitting Δm_{AH} in the IDM as providing a strong EWPT (see e.g. [78]), the dominant strengthening effect was attributed to the thermal contributions of H_0, A_0, H^{\pm} to $V_{\rm eff}^T$. While these do play an important role, we show here that the most important effect is due to the uplifting of the T = 0 vacuum.



Figure 10. λ_{345} vs Δm_{AH} assuming $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$, for $m_{H_0} = 70$ GeV. Red lines show constant values of $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$, with the green region corresponding to $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}^{\text{SM}} < -1$ ($\mathcal{F}_0 > 0$). The grey and brown regions are respectively excluded by boundedness from below of the scalar potential and by the failure to fulfill eq. (5.2), respectively for $\lambda_2 = 1$ (dark) and $\lambda_2 = 0.1$ (light). Contours of constant $\Omega_{H_0}/\Omega_{\text{DM}} = 1, 0.1, 0.02, 0.01$ are shown as solid, dashed, dash-dotted and dotted black lines. The excluded region from LUX [79] is shown in pale yellow.

6 Trilinear Higgs self-coupling

Finally, it is useful to discuss the behaviour of the trilinear Higgs self-coupling λ_{hhh} in the $(\Omega, \Delta m_{AH})$ plane, w.r.t. its value in the SM λ_{hhh}^{SM} . It has been suggested that a

¹⁰We note that for this value of m_{H_0} a strong EWPT was deemed possible in [78], but we find the most recent LUX limits exclude this possibility.

strong first order EWPT in the 2HDM is tightly correlated with sizable deviation in the value of λ_{hhh} w.r.t. the SM value [20, 21]. In the alignment limit, we note that $\lambda_{hhh} = \lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}}$ at tree-level (as was also noted in [20, 21]). However, in the 2HDM 1-loop corrections may lead to sizable deviations from the SM value. The Higgs self-coupling λ_{hhh} in the 2HDM is approximately given at 1-loop by

$$\lambda_{hhh} = \frac{3m_h^2}{v} + \sum_k \frac{n_k}{32\pi^2 v^3} \frac{(vI_k)^3}{m_k^2}$$
$$= \frac{3m_h^2}{v} \left(1 - \frac{m_t^4}{\pi^2 m_h^2 v^2}\right) + \sum_{k=H_0,A_0,H^{\pm}} n_k \frac{m_k^4}{4\pi^2 v^3} \left(1 + \frac{m_h^2}{2m_k^2} - \frac{M^2}{m_k^2}\right)^3$$
$$= \lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}} + \sum_{k=H_0,A_0,H^{\pm}} n_k \frac{m_k^4}{4\pi^2 v^3} \left(1 + \frac{m_h^2}{2m_k^2} - \frac{M^2}{m_k^2}\right)^3$$
(6.1)

where $\lambda_{hhh}^{\rm SM}$ includes the SM 1-loop corrections due to the top quark, Higgs and gauge bosons. Our result agrees with [20, 21] and includes some sub-leading pieces that become relevant when the new scalar states are not so heavy with respect to the 125 GeV Higgs boson. Given the tight correlation between the vacuum energy difference and the strength of the EWPT, one would also expect a relationship to exist between the former and the Higgs self-coupling. Defining $\kappa_{hhh} \equiv \lambda_{hhh}/\lambda_{hhh}^{\rm SM}$, the region $|1 - \kappa_{hhh}| \geq$ 0.5 is of particular interest, since such a deviation in λ_{hhh} from its SM value could be probed at the HL-LHC [26, 27]. In Fig. 11 we show contours of κ_{hhh} , for $m_{H_0} = 200$ GeV and $m_{H_0} = 500$ GeV in both $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{H_0}$ and $m_{H^{\pm}} = m_{A_0}$ scenarios. We also superimpose the normalized vacuum energy difference $\Delta \mathcal{F}_0/\mathcal{F}_0^{SM}$, highlighting (in red/green) the values 0 and -1. The latter case corresponds to the limit above which the EW vacuum is lifted above the trivial one ($\mathcal{F}_0 > 0$), preventing EWSB from ever occurring, while the former denotes a vacuum energy difference equal to that of the SM. Interestingly, we see that the region of unchanged vacuum energy difference with respect to the SM coincides almost exactly with the region where the Higgs self-coupling does not deviate from the SM prediction. Furthermore, the self-coupling grows as the EW vacuum is uplifted, reaching values of 2-4 times the SM prediction in the regions shown in Figs. 6 and 7 where a strong EWPT is expected to occur.

The strong correlation between the vacuum energy and the trilinear Higgs coupling shown in Fig. 11 can qualitatively be understood in terms of an effective potential for the SM Higgs. The extra Higgs states induce higher dimensional operators, with the leading one being of mass dimension six. When only keeping the mass term, the quartic coupling and the dimension-6 operator in the Higgs potential, we can vary the vacuum energy independently of the Higgs mass and trade the coefficient of the dimension-6 operator for the vacuum energy to parametrize this effective potential [9]. We can then



Figure 11. Contours of the deviation in the 2HDM Higgs self-coupling $\kappa_{hhh} = \lambda_{hhh}/\lambda_{hhh}^{\text{SM}}$ overlaying the vacuum energy difference. The dashed curve corresponds to $\kappa_{hhh} = 1$, where the prediction is unchanged with respect to the SM. The values of 1.5 and 0.5 correspond to the expected precision envisaged for the HL-LHC. Vacuum energy difference values of 0 and -1 are also highlighted in which either no EWSB can occur or the vacuum energy difference is the same as in the SM respectively.

compute the third derivative of this potential to obtain the trilinear Higgs coupling. Setting this in ratio to the SM result, which corresponds to a vanishing dimension-6 operator, we obtain

$$\kappa_{hhh} = \frac{3m_h^2 v^2 + 16\mathcal{F}_0}{3m_h^2 v^2 + 16\mathcal{F}_0^{\rm SM}}.$$
(6.2)

Clearly $\mathcal{F}_0 > \mathcal{F}_0^{\text{SM}}$ means $\kappa_{hhh} > 1$. Quantitatively, we find that this estimate falls short of the full result in Fig. 11 up to about 30%. This is not surprising, as the Higgs states integrated out are not very much heavier than v. So we expect operators of higher mass dimension to play a role, which, however, do not spoil the overall qualitative picture.

In fact, the contribution to the dimension-6 operator affecting the Higgs potential from integrating out the new states in the 2HDM is known [82]. Only one operator

$$\mathcal{O}_6 = \lambda \frac{\bar{c}_6}{v^2} \left(\Phi^{\dagger} \Phi \right)^3 \tag{6.3}$$

plays a role here. Its effect of the vacuum energy difference and the Higgs trilinear coupling is as follows

$$\kappa_{hhh} = 1 + \bar{c}_6, \quad \frac{\Delta \mathcal{F}_0}{|\mathcal{F}_0^{\rm SM}|} = 1 + \frac{\bar{c}_6}{2}.$$
(6.4)

In the alignment limit, the Wilson coefficient of interest has been calculated as

$$\bar{c}_6 = (\bar{\lambda}_4^2 + \bar{\lambda}_5^2) \frac{v^2}{192\pi^2 \bar{\mu}_2^2} \tag{6.5}$$

$$=\frac{(m_{A_0}^2 - m_{H^{\pm}}^2)^2 + (m_{H_0}^2 - m_{H^{\pm}}^2)^2}{48\pi^2 v^2 (2M^2 - m_h^2)}.$$
(6.6)

Being positive definite, we see that it contributes both to an uplifting of the EW vacuum and an increase in the Higgs trilinear coupling. Furthermore, since EW precision tests constrain the charged Higgs mass to be near one or the other neutral state ($m_{H^{\pm}} \sim_{H_0}$ or $m_{H^{\pm}} \sim_{A_0}$), we are left with precisely the aforementioned mass splitting between the two, new neutral states controlling the effects of interest, lending further support to our previous findings.

7 Conclusions

In this work we have established a correlation between the strength of the electroweak phase transition and the zero-temperature free-energy of the broken minimum in two-Higgs-doublet models. Considering similar statements made previously in the literature in the context of other SM scalar sector extensions [8, 9], we claim this is a general effect of any model where the modified scalar sector acts as the main source of strong phase transition.

Because working with the zero-temperature vacuum energy is analytically much simpler than with the full thermal potential, this correlation can be used to better predict the behaviour of a certain model concerning the nature of the EWPT, as well as to better understand the impact of parameter space constraints on the strength of the phase transition predicted by the model. In particular, we have in this way clarified the preferred hierarchy in the scalar sector from the requirement of a strong EWPT, with a heavier pseudoscalar and charged scalar.

We have further investigated the relation between the triple Higgs self-coupling and the vacuum energy uplifting in the model. Large deviations from the SM predictions of these couplings are expected as a collateral effect of a model with a strong EWPT, and we have shown that these deviations can be measurable at the HL-LHC in some scenarios here presented. A measurement of the Higgs self-couplings is a key goal in any future collider experiment as a probe of the ultimate structure of the Higgs potential. Results such as the ones we present here show that this measurement would also serve as an indirect probe for the nature of the nature of the electroweak phase transition, and of the viability of electroweak baryogenesis as an explanation for the baryon asymmetry of the Universe.

Acknowledgment

The work of S.H and K.M. is supported by the Science Technology and Facilities Council (STFC) under grant number ST/L000504/1. K. M. is also supported in part by the Belgian Federal Science Policy Office through the Interuniversity Attraction Pole P7/37. J.M.N. is supported by the European Research Council under the European Unions Horizon 2020 program (ERC Grant Agreement no.648680 DARKHORIZONS). G.C.D. is supported by the German Science Foundation (DFG) under the Collaborative Research Center (SFB) 676 Particles, Strings and the Early Universe.

A Physical dictionaries of the \mathbb{Z}_2 and Higgs bases for two Higgs doublets

Here we provide the detailed expressions for the scalar potential parameters of the 2HDM as a function of the masses and mixings of the scalar sector. We define $\Omega^2 \equiv m_{H_0}^2 - \mu^2 (t_\beta + t_\beta^{-1})$.

A.1 \mathbb{Z}_2 basis

See eq. (2.1) for the definition of the potential parameters.

$$\mu_1^2 = \mu^2 t_\beta - \frac{1}{2} \left[m_h^2 + (m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2) c_{\beta-\alpha} \left(c_{\beta-\alpha} + s_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta \right) \right],$$

$$\mu_2^2 = \mu^2 t_\beta^{-1} - \frac{1}{2} \left[m_h^2 + (m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2) c_{\beta-\alpha} \left(c_{\beta-\alpha} - s_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta^{-1} \right) \right]$$
(A.1)

$$\begin{split} v^2 \lambda_1 &= m_h^2 + \Omega^2 t_\beta^2 - (m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2) \left[1 - (s_{\beta-\alpha} + c_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta)^2 \right] t_\beta^2, \\ v^2 \lambda_2 &= m_h^2 + \Omega^2 t_\beta^{-2} - (m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2) \left[1 - (s_{\beta-\alpha} - c_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta^{-1})^2 \right] t_\beta^{-2}, \\ v^2 \lambda_3 &= 2m_{H^\pm}^2 + \Omega^2 - m_h^2 - (m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2) \left[1 + (s_{\beta-\alpha} + c_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta^{-1}) (s_{\beta-\alpha} - c_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta) \right], \\ v^2 \lambda_4 &= m_{A_0}^2 - 2m_{H^\pm}^2 + m_{H_0}^2 - \Omega^2, \\ v^2 \lambda_5 &= m_{H_0}^2 - m_{A_0}^2 - \Omega^2. \end{split}$$

A.2 Higgs basis

See eq. (2.9) for the definition of the potential parameters.

$$\bar{\mu}_{1}^{2} = -\frac{1}{2} \left[m_{h}^{2} + (m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}) c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} \right] < 0$$

$$\bar{\mu}_{2}^{2} = -\Omega^{2} + \frac{1}{2} m_{h}^{2} + \frac{1}{2} (m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}) \left[1 + s_{\beta-\alpha} \left(s_{\beta-\alpha} - c_{\beta-\alpha} (t_{\beta} - t_{\beta}^{-1}) \right) \right]$$

$$\bar{\mu}^{2} = -(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}) s_{\beta-\alpha} c_{\beta-\alpha}$$

(A.2)

$$\begin{aligned} v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{1} &= -2\bar{\mu}_{1}^{2} \\ v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{2} &= m_{h}^{2} + \Omega^{2}(t_{\beta} - t_{\beta}^{-1})^{2} + (m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}) \left[1 - (s_{\beta-\alpha} - c_{\beta-\alpha}(t_{\beta} - t_{\beta}^{-1}))^{2} \right] \\ v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{3} &= 2m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} - 2\bar{\mu}_{2}^{2} \\ v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{4} &= m_{A^{0}}^{2} - 2m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} + m_{h}^{2} + (m_{H^{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2})s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} \\ v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{5} &= -m_{A^{0}}^{2} + m_{h}^{2} + (m_{H^{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2})s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} \\ v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{6} &= 2\bar{\mu}^{2} \\ v^{2}\bar{\lambda}_{7} &= -\Omega^{2}(t_{\beta} - t_{\beta}^{-1}) - (m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2})c_{\beta-\alpha} \left(s_{\beta-\alpha} - c_{\beta-\alpha}(t_{\beta} - t_{\beta}^{-1})\right) \end{aligned}$$
(A.3)

The Higgs basis does allow to read in a straightforward way the masses for the new scalars in the symmetric and broken EW phases, which is what will enter into the vacuum energy difference.

A.3 Inert Doublet Model

The potential parameters in this case are defined by eq. (2.1), with $\mu^2 = 0$.

$$\mu_1^2 = -\frac{m_h^2}{2}$$

$$\mu_2^2 = m_{H_0}^2 - \frac{\lambda_{345}}{2} v^2$$

$$v^2 \lambda_1 = m_h^2$$

$$v^2 \lambda_3 = 2 \left(m_{H^{\pm}}^2 - m_{H_0}^2 \right) + \lambda_{345} v^2$$

$$v^2 \lambda_4 = m_{H_0}^2 + m_{A_0}^2 - 2 m_{H^{\pm}}^2$$

$$v^2 \lambda_5 = m_{H_0}^2 - m_{A_0}^2$$
(A.4)

with $\lambda_{345} \equiv \lambda_3 + \lambda_4 + \lambda_5$, λ_2 and the scalar masses m_{H_0} , m_{A_0} , $m_{H^{\pm}}$ as independent parameters.

B On-Shell Renormalization of the 2HDM: \mathcal{F}_0 in the Higgs basis

We recall the scalar contribution to the zero-temperature 2HDM vacuum energy in the basis of 2.9 (eq. (3.7))

$$\mathcal{F}_{0} = -\frac{m_{h}^{2}v^{2}}{8} - \frac{v^{2}}{8}c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2}\left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}\right) + \Delta V_{1} - \frac{\delta\bar{\mu}_{1}^{2}v^{2}}{2} + \frac{\delta\bar{\lambda}_{1}v^{4}}{8}.$$
 (B.1)

The first two terms correspond to the tree-level piece, $-\bar{\lambda}_1 v^4/8$, translated with eq. (A.2). The second half of the expression is the 1-loop correction, comprising of the difference between the Coleman Weinberg potential evaluated at the EW minimum and the origin as well as the relevant counterterms. The latter are chosen to preserve the tree-level minimum and scalar masses at 1-loop, which fixes their value to

$$\delta\bar{\mu}_1^2 \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\partial^2 V_1}{\partial h_1^2} \bigg|_v - \frac{3}{v} \frac{\partial V_1}{\partial h_1} \bigg|_v \right), \quad \delta\bar{\lambda}_1 \equiv \frac{1}{v^2} \left(\frac{\partial^2 V_1}{\partial h_1^2} \bigg|_v - \frac{1}{v} \frac{\partial V_1}{\partial h_1} \bigg|_v \right), \tag{B.2}$$

with¹¹

$$\frac{\partial V_1}{\partial \phi_i} = \sum_k n_k \frac{m_k^2}{32\pi^2} \frac{\partial m_k^2}{\partial \phi_i} \log \frac{m_k^2}{Q^2},\tag{B.3}$$

$$\frac{\partial^2 V_1}{\partial \phi_i \partial \phi_j} = \sum_k \frac{n_k}{32\pi^2} \left[\frac{\partial m_k^2}{\partial \phi_i} \frac{\partial m_k^2}{\partial \phi_j} \left(\log \frac{m_k^2}{Q^2} + 1 \right) + m_k^2 \log \left(\frac{m_k^2}{Q^2} \right) \frac{\partial^2 m_k^2}{\partial \phi_i \partial \phi_j} \right].$$
(B.4)

¹¹Note that there is a caveat in carrying out the condition in eq. (B.4). For the Goldstone bosons, the first term in eq. (B.4) is infrared divergent, so that trying to define the physical mass by taking derivatives of $V_{\rm eff}$ actually yields unphysical results. This happens because, by definition, the effective potential takes into account only diagrams with vanishing external momenta, whereas the physical mass must be evaluated on-shell, with $p^2 = m^2$. A rigorous solution to the problem has been developed in [11], and also in [83, 84] via resummation of the Goldstone contributions. Here we choose to adopt the more straightforward approach of replacing the vanishing Goldstone masses in the logarithmic divergent term by an IR cutoff at $m_{\rm IR}^2 = m_{h^0}^2$, which gives a good approximation to the exact procedure of on-shell renormalization, as argued in [15].

Plugging eqs. (B.2) and (B.4) into (B.1), one finds the contribution of the counterterms to the effective potential at the electroweak minimum,

$$V^{CT}\Big|_{v} = -\sum_{k} \frac{n_{k}}{4 \times 64\pi^{2}} \left[(vI_{k})^{2} \left(\log \frac{|m_{k}^{2}|}{Q^{2}} + 1 \right) + m_{k}^{2} \log \frac{|m_{k}^{2}|}{Q^{2}} \left(v^{2}J_{k} - 5vI_{k} \right) \right],$$

with $I_{k} \equiv \frac{\partial m_{k}^{2}}{\partial h_{1}}\Big|_{v}$ and $J_{k} \equiv \frac{\partial^{2}m_{k}^{2}}{\partial h_{1}^{2}}\Big|_{v}.$ (B.5)

Finally, putting everything together back into eq. (B.1), including the explicit contributions to ΔV_1 , we find

$$\mathcal{F}_{0} = \mathcal{F}_{0}^{\mathrm{SM}} - \frac{v^{2}}{8}c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2}\left(m_{H_{0}}^{2} - m_{h}^{2}\right) - \frac{m_{h}^{4}}{64\pi^{2}}\left(3 + \log 2\right) - \sum_{k}\frac{m_{k,0}^{4}}{64\pi^{2}}\left(\log\frac{|m_{k,0}^{2}|}{Q^{2}} - \frac{1}{2}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{4 \times 64\pi^{2}}\sum_{k}\left\{\left(vI_{k}\right)^{2} - 2m_{k}^{4} + \left[\left(vI_{k} - 2m_{k}^{2}\right)^{2} + m_{k}^{2}\left(v^{2}J_{k} - vI_{k}\right)\right]\log\frac{m_{k}^{2}}{Q^{2}}\right\},\tag{B.6}$$

where the SM vacuum energy of eq. (3.8) has been reintroduced and the contribution to the vacuum energy from loops of the SM Higgs and Goldstones, which also occur in ΔV_1 , are explicitly subtracted to avoid double counting these terms. Here, $m_{k,0}^2$ denotes a field dependent mass squared evaluated at the origin. This defines the vacuum energy difference of eq. (3.9).

What remains is to compute the derivatives of the field dependent masses with respect to h_1 via the general relations [85]

$$\frac{\partial m_k^2}{\partial \phi_i} = \left(\bar{R} \frac{\partial M}{\partial \phi_i} \bar{R}^T\right)_{kk},$$
(B.7)
$$\frac{\partial^2 m_k^2}{\partial \phi_i \partial \phi_j} = \left(\bar{R} \frac{\partial^2 M}{\partial \phi_i \partial \phi_j} \bar{R}^T\right)_{kk} + 2 \left(\bar{R} \frac{\partial M}{\partial \phi_i} \bar{R}^T\right)_{ki} \left(m_k^2 \mathbb{I} - M_{\text{diag}}\right)_{ii}^+ \left(\bar{R} \frac{\partial M}{\partial \phi_j} \bar{R}^T\right)_{ik},$$

where \bar{R} is the orthogonal transformation that diagonalises the scalar mass matrix and $(m_k^2 - M_{\text{diag}})^+$ denotes the Moore-Penrose pseudoinverse of the diagonal matrix in parenthesis. For such a diagonal matrix, the entries of the pseudoinverse are

$$(m_k^2 - M_{\text{diag}})_{ii}^+ = \begin{cases} 0, & (M_{\text{diag}})_{ii} = m_k^2, \\ [m_k^2 - (M_{\text{diag}})_{ii}]^{-1}, & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$
(B.8)

Note from eq. (B.4) that second derivatives of Goldstone masses always enter multiplied by the Goldstone masses themselves, which vanish at the electroweak minimum. So we will not need to compute them. Defining the quantities

$$\Delta m_0^2 \equiv (m_{H_0}^2 - m_h^2),$$

$$\mathcal{A} \equiv \frac{s_\alpha c_\alpha}{s_\beta c_\beta} = (c_{\beta-\alpha} + s_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta)(c_{\beta-\alpha} - s_{\beta-\alpha} t_\beta^{-1}),$$
(B.9)

the required mass derivatives are given by

$$v I_{G} = m_{h}^{2} + \Delta m_{0}^{2} c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} \qquad (\text{Goldstone Bosons})$$

$$v I_{H^{\pm}} = 2m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} + m_{h}^{2} c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} + m_{H_{0}}^{2} s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} - [2M^{2} - \Delta m_{0}^{2}\mathcal{A}]$$

$$v^{2} J_{H^{\pm}} = v I_{H^{\pm}} + 2c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} \frac{(\Delta m_{0}^{2})^{2}}{m_{H^{\pm}}^{2}}$$

$$v I_{A_{0}} = v I_{H^{\pm}} - 2m_{H^{\pm}}^{2} + 2m_{A_{0}}^{2}$$

$$v^{2} J_{A_{0}} = v I_{A_{0}} + 2c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} \frac{(\Delta m_{0}^{2})^{2}}{m_{A_{0}}^{2}}$$

$$v I_{h} = 3m_{h}^{2} - c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} [2M^{2} - \Delta m_{0}^{2}\mathcal{A}]$$

$$v^{2} J_{h} = v I_{h} - \frac{2c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2}}{\Delta m_{0}^{2}} [2M^{2} - \Delta m_{0}^{2}\mathcal{A}]^{2}$$

$$v I_{H_{0}} = 3m_{H_{0}}^{2} - s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} [2M^{2} - \Delta m_{0}^{2}\mathcal{A}]$$

$$v^{2} J_{H_{0}} = v I_{H_{0}} + \frac{2c_{\beta-\alpha}^{2} s_{\beta-\alpha}^{2}}{\Delta m_{0}^{2}} [2M^{2} - \Delta m_{0}^{2}\mathcal{A}]^{2}.$$

It is easy to show that eq. (B.6) simplifies to eq. (3.10) in alignment. Through a laborious computation one can also show that the Q^2 dependence always cancels out, so that \mathcal{F}_0 is indeed renormalization scale independent.

References

- A. D. Sakharov, "Violation of CP Invariance, c Asymmetry, and Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe," Pisma Zh. Eksp. Teor. Fiz. 5 (1967) 32 [JETP Lett. 5 (1967) 24] [Sov. Phys. Usp. 34 (1991) 392] [Usp. Fiz. Nauk 161 (1991) 61].
- [2] K. Kajantie, M. Laine, K. Rummukainen and M. E. Shaposhnikov, "Is there a hot electroweak phase transition at m(H) larger or equal to m(W)?," Phys. Rev. Lett. 77 (1996) 2887 [hep-ph/9605288].
- [3] M. D'Onofrio, K. Rummukainen and A. Tranberg, "Sphaleron Rate in the Minimal Standard Model," Phys. Rev. Lett. 113 (2014) no.14, 141602 [arXiv:1404.3565 [hep-ph]].
- [4] C. Caprini et al., "Science with the space-based interferometer eLISA. II: Gravitational waves from cosmological phase transitions," JCAP 1604 (2016) no.04, 001 [arXiv:1512.06239 [astro-ph.CO]].

- [5] H. H. Patel and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, "Baryon Washout, Electroweak Phase Transition, and Perturbation Theory," JHEP 1107 (2011) 029 [arXiv:1101.4665 [hep-ph]].
- [6] M. Garny and T. Konstandin, "On the gauge dependence of vacuum transitions at finite temperature," JHEP 1207 (2012) 189 [arXiv:1205.3392 [hep-ph]].
- [7] D. Curtin, P. Meade and H. Ramani, "Thermal Resummation and Phase Transitions," [arXiv:1612.00466 [hep-ph]].
- [8] W. Huang, Z. Kang, J. Shu, P. Wu and J. M. Yang, "New insights in the electroweak phase transition in the NMSSM," Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) no.2, 025006 [arXiv:1405.1152 [hep-ph]].
- [9] C. P. D. Harman and S. J. Huber, "Does zero temperature decide on the nature of the electroweak phase transition?," JHEP 1606 (2016) 005 [arXiv:1512.05611 [hep-ph]].
- [10] G. C. Branco, P. M. Ferreira, L. Lavoura, M. N. Rebelo, M. Sher and J. P. Silva, "Theory and phenomenology of two-Higgs-doublet models," Phys. Rept. 516 (2012) 1 [arXiv:1106.0034 [hep-ph]].
- [11] J. M. Cline and P. A. Lemieux, "Electroweak phase transition in two Higgs doublet models," Phys. Rev. D 55 (1997) 3873 [hep-ph/9609240].
- [12] G. C. Dorsch, S. J. Huber, and J. M. No, "A strong electroweak phase transition in the 2HDM after LHC8," JHEP 1310 (2013) 029, [arXiv:1305.6610 [hep-ph]].
- [13] P. Basler, M. Krause, M. Muhlleitner, J. Wittbrodt and A. Wlotzka, "Strong First Order Electroweak Phase Transition in the CP-Conserving 2HDM Revisited," JHEP 1702 (2017) 121 [arXiv:1612.04086 [hep-ph]].
- [14] G. Dorsch, S. Huber, K. Mimasu, and J. No, "Echoes of the Electroweak Phase Transition: Discovering a second Higgs doublet through A₀ → ZH₀," Phys.Rev.Lett. 113 (2014), no. 21 211802, [arXiv:1405.5537 [hep-ph]].
- [15] J. M. Cline, K. Kainulainen and M. Trott, "Electroweak Baryogenesis in Two Higgs Doublet Models and B meson anomalies," JHEP 1111 (2011) 089 [arXiv:1107.3559 [hep-ph]].
- [16] L. Fromme, S. J. Huber and M. Seniuch, "Baryogenesis in the two-Higgs doublet model," JHEP 0611 (2006) 038 [hep-ph/0605242].
- [17] G. C. Dorsch, S. J. Huber, T. Konstandin and J. M. No, "A Second Higgs Doublet in the Early Universe: Baryogenesis and Gravitational Waves," [arXiv:1611.05874 [hep-ph]].
- [18] B. Coleppa, F. Kling and S. Su, "Exotic Decays Of A Heavy Neutral Higgs Through HZ/AZ Channel," JHEP 1409 (2014) 161 [arXiv:1404.1922 [hep-ph]].

- [19] F. Kling, J. M. No and S. Su, "Anatomy of Exotic Higgs Decays in 2HDM," JHEP 1609 (2016) 093 [arXiv:1604.01406 [hep-ph]].
- [20] S. Kanemura, S. Kiyoura, Y. Okada, E. Senaha and C. P. Yuan, "New physics effect on the Higgs selfcoupling," Phys. Lett. B 558, 157 (2003) [hep-ph/0211308].
- [21] S. Kanemura, Y. Okada and E. Senaha, "Electroweak baryogenesis and quantum corrections to the triple Higgs boson coupling," Phys. Lett. B 606, 361 (2005) [hep-ph/0411354].
- [22] M. J. Dolan, C. Englert and M. Spannowsky, "Higgs self-coupling measurements at the LHC," JHEP 1210 (2012) 112 [arXiv:1206.5001 [hep-ph]].
- [23] A. J. Barr, M. J. Dolan, C. Englert and M. Spannowsky, "Di-Higgs final states augMT2ed – selecting hh events at the high luminosity LHC," Phys. Lett. B 728 (2014) 308 [arXiv:1309.6318 [hep-ph]].
- [24] M. McCullough, "An Indirect Model-Dependent Probe of the Higgs Self-Coupling," Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) no.1, 015001 Erratum: [Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) no.3, 039903] [arXiv:1312.3322 [hep-ph]].
- [25] A. J. Barr, M. J. Dolan, C. Englert, D. E. Ferreira de Lima and M. Spannowsky, "Higgs Self-Coupling Measurements at a 100 TeV Hadron Collider," JHEP 1502 (2015) 016 [arXiv:1412.7154 [hep-ph]].
- [26] W. Yao, "Studies of measuring Higgs self-coupling with $HH \rightarrow b\bar{b}\gamma\gamma$ at the future hadron colliders," [arXiv:1308.6302 [hep-ph]].
- [27] S. Dawson et al., "Working Group Report: Higgs Boson," [arXiv:1310.8361 [hep-ex]].
- [28] S. Inoue, M. J. Ramsey-Musolf and Y. Zhang, "CP-violating phenomenology of flavor conserving two Higgs doublet models," Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) no.11, 115023 [arXiv:1403.4257 [hep-ph]].
- [29] J. Bernon, J. F. Gunion, H. E. Haber, Y. Jiang and S. Kraml, "Scrutinizing the alignment limit in two-Higgs-doublet models. II. m_H=125GeV," Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) no.3, 035027 [arXiv:1511.03682 [hep-ph]].
- [30] G. Brooijmans et al., "Les Houches 2015: Physics at TeV colliders new physics working group report," [arXiv:1605.02684 [hep-ph]].
- [31] R. Aggleton, D. Barducci, N. E. Bomark, S. Moretti and C. Shepherd-Themistocleous, *"Review of LHC experimental results on low mass bosons in multi Higgs models,"* JHEP 1702 (2017) 035 [arXiv:1609.06089 [hep-ph]].
- [32] S. L. Glashow and S. Weinberg, "Natural Conservation Laws for Neutral Currents," Phys. Rev. D 15, 1958 (1977).

- [33] J. F. Gunion and H. E. Haber, "The CP conserving two Higgs doublet model: The Approach to the decoupling limit," Phys. Rev. D 67 (2003) 075019 [hep-ph/0207010].
- [34] B. Grinstein, C. W. Murphy and P. Uttayarat, "One-loop corrections to the perturbative unitarity bounds in the CP-conserving two-Higgs doublet model with a softly broken Z₂ symmetry," JHEP 1606 (2016) 070 [arXiv:1512.04567 [hep-ph]].
- [35] A. G. Akeroyd, A. Arhrib and E. M. Naimi, "Note on tree level unitarity in the general two Higgs doublet model," Phys. Lett. B 490 (2000) 119 [hep-ph/0006035].
- [36] I. F. Ginzburg and I. P. Ivanov, "Tree-level unitarity constraints in the most general 2HDM," Phys. Rev. D 72 (2005) 115010 [hep-ph/0508020].
- [37] A. Barroso, P. M. Ferreira, I. P. Ivanov and R. Santos, "Metastability bounds on the two Higgs doublet model," JHEP 1306 (2013) 045 [arXiv:1303.5098 [hep-ph]].
- [38] I. P. Ivanov and J. P. Silva, "Tree-level metastability bounds for the most general two Higgs doublet model," Phys. Rev. D 92 (2015) no.5, 055017 [arXiv:1507.05100 [hep-ph]].
- [39] M. Quiros, "Field theory at finite temperature and phase transitions," Helv.Phys.Acta 67 (1994) 451–583.
- [40] D. E. Morrissey and M. J. Ramsey-Musolf, "Electroweak baryogenesis," New J. Phys. 14, 125003 (2012) [arXiv:1206.2942 [hep-ph]].
- [41] T. Konstandin, "Quantum Transport and Electroweak Baryogenesis," Phys. Usp. 56, 747 (2013) [Usp. Fiz. Nauk 183, 785 (2013)] [arXiv:1302.6713 [hep-ph]].
- [42] S. R. Coleman, "The fate of the false vacuum. 1. Semiclassical theory," Phys.Rev. D15 (1977) 2929–2936.
- [43] A. D. Linde, "Fate of the false vacuum at finite temperature: theory and applications," Phys. Lett. B100 (1981) 37.
- [44] A. D. Linde, "Decay of the false vacuum at finite temperature," Nucl. Phys. B216 (1983) 421.
- [45] W. Grimus, L. Lavoura, O. Ogreid, and P. Osland, "A Precision constraint on multi-Higgs-doublet models," J.Phys. G35 (2008) 075001, [arXiv:0711.4022 [hep-ph]].
- [46] W. Grimus, L. Lavoura, O. Ogreid, and P. Osland, "The Oblique parameters in multi-Higgs-doublet models," Nucl. Phys. B801 (2008) 81–96, [arXiv:0802.4353 [hep-ph]].
- [47] H. E. Haber and D. O'Neil, "Basis-independent methods for the two-Higgs-doublet model III: The CP-conserving limit, custodial symmetry, and the oblique parameters S, T, U," Phys.Rev. D83 (2011) 055017, [arXiv:1011.6188 [hep-ph]].
- [48] G. Funk, D. O'Neil, and R. M. Winters, "What the oblique parameters S, T, and U and

their extensions reveal about the 2HDM: A numerical analysis, "Int.J.Mod.Phys. A27 (2012) 1250021, [arXiv:1110.3812 [hep-ph]].

- [49] C. Geng and J. N. Ng, "Charged Higgs effect in $B_d^0 \bar{B}_d^0$ mixing, $K \to \pi \nu \bar{\nu}$ decay and rare decays of B mesons," Phys.Rev. D38 (1988) 2857.
- [50] F. Mahmoudi and O. Stal, "Flavor constraints on the two-Higgs-doublet model with general Yukawa couplings," Phys. Rev. D81 (2010) 035016, [arXiv:0907.1791 [hep-ph]].
- [51] M. Ciuchini, G. Degrassi, P. Gambino, and G. Giudice, "Next-to-leading QCD corrections to $B \to X_s \gamma$: Standard model and two Higgs doublet model," Nucl.Phys. **B527** (1998) 21–43, [hep-ph/9710335].
- [52] F. Borzumati and C. Greub, "2HDMs predictions for $\overline{B} \to X_s \gamma$ in NLO QCD," Phys.Rev. **D58** (1998) 074004, [hep-ph/9802391].
- [53] P. Ciafaloni, A. Romanino, and A. Strumia, "Two loop QCD corrections to charged Higgs mediated $b \rightarrow s\gamma$ decay," Nucl.Phys. B524 (1998) 361–376, [hep-ph/9710312].
- [54] T. Hermann, M. Misiak, and M. Steinhauser, " $\bar{B} \to X_s \gamma$ in the Two Higgs Doublet Model up to Next-to-Next-to-Leading Order in QCD," JHEP **1211** (2012) 036, [arXiv:1208.2788 [hep-ph]].
- [55] M. Misiak et al., "Updated NNLO QCD predictions for the weak radiative B-meson decays," Phys. Rev. Lett. 114, no. 22, 221801 (2015) [arXiv:1503.01789 [hep-ph]].
- [56] P. Bechtle, O. Brein, S. Heinemeyer, O. Stål, T. Stefaniak, et al., "HiggsBounds-4: Improved Tests of Extended Higgs Sectors against Exclusion Bounds from LEP, the Tevatron and the LHC," Eur.Phys.J. C74 (2014) 2693, [arXiv:1311.0055 [hep-ph]].
- [57] P. Bechtle, S. Heinemeyer, O. Stål, T. Stefaniak, and G. Weiglein, "HiggsSignals: Confronting arbitrary Higgs sectors with measurements at the Tevatron and the LHC," Eur.Phys.J. C74 (2014), no. 2 2711, [arXiv:1305.1933 [hep-ph]].
- [58] P. M. Ferreira, J. F. Gunion, H. E. Haber and R. Santos, "Probing wrong-sign Yukawa couplings at the LHC and a future linear collider," Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) no.11, 115003 [arXiv:1403.4736 [hep-ph]].
- [59] R. Barbieri, L. J. Hall, and V. S. Rychkov, "Improved naturalness with a heavy Higgs: An Alternative road to LHC physics," Phys. Rev. D74 (2006) 015007, [hep-ph/0603188].
- [60] G. Abbiendi et al. [ALEPH and DELPHI and L3 and OPAL and LEP Collaborations], "Search for Charged Higgs bosons: Combined Results Using LEP Data," Eur. Phys. J. C 73 (2013) 2463 [arXiv:1301.6065 [hep-ex]].
- [61] S. Schael et al. [ALEPH and DELPHI and L3 and OPAL Collaborations and LEP Working Group for Higgs Boson Searches], "Search for neutral MSSM Higgs bosons at LEP," Eur. Phys. J. C 47 (2006) 547 [hep-ex/0602042].

- [62] B. Dumont, J. F. Gunion, Y. Jiang and S. Kraml, "Constraints on and future prospects for Two-Higgs-Doublet Models in light of the LHC Higgs signal," Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 035021 [arXiv:1405.3584 [hep-ph]].
- [63] D. Chowdhury and O. Eberhardt, "Global fits of the two-loop renormalized Two-Higgs-Doublet model with soft Z₂ breaking," JHEP 1511 (2015) 052 [arXiv:1503.08216 [hep-ph]].
- [64] N. Craig, F. D'Eramo, P. Draper, S. Thomas and H. Zhang, "The Hunt for the Rest of the Higgs Bosons," JHEP 1506 (2015) 137 [arXiv:1504.04630 [hep-ph]].
- [65] G. C. Dorsch, S. J. Huber, K. Mimasu, and J. M. No, "*Hierarchical vs Degenerate 2HDM: The LHC Run 1 Legacy at the Onset of Run 2*," arXiv:1601.0454 [hep-ph].
- [66] J. Bernon, J. F. Gunion, Y. Jiang and S. Kraml, "Light Higgs bosons in Two-Higgs-Doublet Models," Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) no.7, 075019 [arXiv:1412.3385 [hep-ph]].
- [67] V. Khachatryan et al. [CMS Collaboration], "Search for neutral resonances decaying into a Z boson and a pair of b jets or tau leptons," Phys. Lett. B 759 (2016) 369 [arXiv:1603.02991 [hep-ex]].
- [68] G. Aad et al. [ATLAS Collaboration], "Search for charged Higgs bosons decaying via $H^{\pm} \rightarrow \tau^{\pm}\nu$ in fully hadronic final states using pp collision data at $\sqrt{s} = 8$ TeV with the ATLAS detector," JHEP **1503** (2015) 088 [arXiv:1412.6663 [hep-ex]].
- [69] M. Misiak and M. Steinhauser, "Weak Radiative Decays of the B Meson and Bounds on M_{H[±]} in the Two-Higgs-Doublet Model," Eur. Phys. J. C 77 (2017) no.3, 201 [arXiv:1702.04571 [hep-ph]].
- [70] E. Ma, "Verifiable radiative seesaw mechanism of neutrino mass and dark matter," Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 077301 [hep-ph/0601225].
- [71] R. Barbieri, L. J. Hall and V. S. Rychkov, "Improved naturalness with a heavy Higgs: An Alternative road to LHC physics," Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 015007 [hep-ph/0603188].
- [72] L. Lopez Honorez, E. Nezri, J. F. Oliver and M. H. G. Tytgat, "The Inert Doublet Model: An Archetype for Dark Matter," JCAP 0702 (2007) 028 [hep-ph/0612275].
- [73] A. Arhrib, Y. L. S. Tsai, Q. Yuan and T. C. Yuan, "An Updated Analysis of Inert Higgs Doublet Model in light of the Recent Results from LUX, PLANCK, AMS-02 and LHC," JCAP 1406 (2014) 030 [arXiv:1310.0358 [hep-ph]].
- [74] A. Ilnicka, M. Krawczyk and T. Robens, "Inert Doublet Model in light of LHC Run I and astrophysical data," Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) no.5, 055026 [arXiv:1508.01671 [hep-ph]].

- [75] T. A. Chowdhury, M. Nemevsek, G. Senjanovic and Y. Zhang, "Dark Matter as the Trigger of Strong Electroweak Phase Transition," JCAP 1202 (2012) 029 [arXiv:1110.5334 [hep-ph]].
- [76] D. Borah and J. M. Cline, "Inert Doublet Dark Matter with Strong Electroweak Phase Transition," Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 055001 [arXiv:1204.4722 [hep-ph]].
- [77] G. Gil, P. Chankowski and M. Krawczyk, "Inert Dark Matter and Strong Electroweak Phase Transition," Phys. Lett. B 717 (2012) 396 [arXiv:1207.0084 [hep-ph]].
- [78] N. Blinov, S. Profumo and T. Stefaniak, "The Electroweak Phase Transition in the Inert Doublet Model," JCAP 1507 (2015) no.07, 028 [arXiv:1504.05949 [hep-ph]].
- [79] D. S. Akerib et al. [LUX Collaboration], "Results from a search for dark matter in the complete LUX exposure," Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017) no.2, 021303 [arXiv:1608.07648 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [80] P. A. R. Ade et al. [Planck Collaboration], "Planck 2015 results. XIII. Cosmological parameters," Astron. Astrophys. 594 (2016) A13 [arXiv:1502.01589 [astro-ph.CO]].
- [81] G. Belanger, F. Boudjema, A. Pukhov and A. Semenov, "micrOMEGAs₃: A program for calculating dark matter observables," Comput. Phys. Commun. 185 (2014) 960 [arXiv:1305.0237 [hep-ph]].
- [82] M. Gorbahn, J. M. No and V. Sanz, JHEP **1510** (2015) 036 doi:10.1007/JHEP10(2015)036 [arXiv:1502.07352 [hep-ph]].
- [83] S. P. Martin, "Taming the Goldstone contributions to the effective potential," Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) no.1, 016013 [arXiv:1406.2355 [hep-ph]].
- [84] J. Elias-Miro, J. R. Espinosa and T. Konstandin, "Taming Infrared Divergences in the Effective Potential," JHEP 1408 (2014) 034 [arXiv:1406.2652 [hep-ph]].
- [85] J. R. Magnus, "On differentiating eigenvalues and eigenvectors," Econometric Theory 1 (1985), no. 2 pp. 179–191.